**RECEIVED**

**Dec 01 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Jessica Ann Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PHILIP SCOTT STEELE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001064

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred by giving a coercive *Allen*<sup>1</sup> charge when the charge lacked the advisement that jurors were not required to surrender their closely held beliefs during deliberations, particularly where they remained in the jury room for over six (6) hours and returned what appeared to have been a compromise verdict, indicating the likelihood of pressure to convict?

---

<sup>1</sup> *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On December 3, 2024, the Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, first degree (CSCM First) and three counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, third degree (CSCM Third). R\* (Indictments). The case proceeded to trial on May 13, 2025, before the Honorable Jessica Ann Salvini and a jury. Tr. 1. Meghan A. Gasser represented the state; Kim R. Varner represented Appellant. Tr. 1. Appellant was acquitted of one count of CSCM First and one count of CSCM Third. Appellant was convicted of one count of CSCM First and two counts of CSCM Third. Tr. 441-42. Judge Salvini sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years' imprisonment for CSCM First and time served for the two counts of CSCM Third, to run concurrently. Tr. 451-52.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, when reviewing jury charges, this Court would consider the charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues at trial. *State v. Rampey*, 438 S.C. 519, 524, 885 S.E.2d 366, 368-69 (2022). “However, an *Allen* charge, due to its potential for coercion, must be viewed with a more heightened scrutiny than a general jury charge.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019)). A coercive *Allen* charge appears to be *per se* reversible and not subject to any sort of harmless error review. *See Rampey*, 438 S.C. at 531, 885 S.E.2d at 372 (holding that polling the jury after the verdict to confirm none of the jurors were coerced by an *Allen* charge does not “cure” a defective charge).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by giving a coercive *Allen* charge because the charge lacked the advisement that jurors were not required to surrender their closely held beliefs during deliberations, particularly where they remained in the jury room for over six (6) hours and returned what appeared to have been a compromise verdict, indicating the likelihood of pressure to convict.

### **Relevant Facts**

At trial, the state alleged that Appellant committed several criminal sexual acts against two of his step-granddaughters (referred to as “Minor 1” and “Minor 2” herein), between 2014 and 2017. R\*(Indictments). Minor 1 testified that Appellant assaulted her when she was between three-and-five years old. Tr. 142. She had not seen Appellant since 2015. Tr. 100. However, in 2021, she told her friend about the alleged abuse. Tr. 139. That friend then told her mother, and the allegation eventually got back to the Minors’ mother. Tr. 140. When her mother asked her directly about the allegations, Minor 1 made a disclosure to her mother. Tr. 140.

Minor 2 first disclosed the alleged abuse at her forensic interview. Tr. 183. She testified that she neither remembered how old she was when it occurred, nor did she remember where it happened or where Appellant’s house was. Tr. 185. However, she spoke with the forensic interviewer making allegations of sexual abuse against Appellant in an effort to “help out [her] sister.” Tr. 196, 1. 8. Appellant’s defense focused on various inconsistencies in Minors’ allegations, the fact of the delayed disclosures, lapses in the police investigation, and the fact that

the allegations were not made until Appellant and his ex-wife, Minors' grandmother, were going through divorce litigation<sup>2</sup>. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 410, ll. 1-5.

During deliberations, the jury sent two questions to the trial court. The first question requested a copy of a demonstrative that the solicitor had used during closing argument, which the trial court refused to provide. Tr. 430, ll. 14-22. After approximately two-and-a-half hours of deliberations, the jury sent its second question to the trial court. Tr. 431; R\*(Court's Exhibit 8). This question read, "If there is not a unanimous vote, what is the plan? NG-4 G-8." Tr. 431, ll. 21-23; R\*(Court's Exhibit 8). The trial court stated its intention to charge the jury "to go back to the jury room and try to do your very best to reach a unanimous verdict." Tr. 432, ll. 23-25. The trial court then clarified that the charge it was planning on giving was "not an *Allen* charge. This [is] just a go back and deliberate, try your best. This would not be an *Allen* charge." Tr. 433, ll. 4-6. The trial court went on to clarify that another trial court judge generally takes the position that an *Allen* charge should never be given when, as here, the jury has provided the vote split, and that she would need to research the issue. Tr. 433, ll. 7-14.

At this point, defense counsel stated that he agreed it was too early for an *Allen* charge but asked the trial court to include more language than it was originally going to. Defense

---

<sup>2</sup> It should be noted that during direct examination of the grandmother, the state elicited testimony from this witness that her divorce attorney who initially instructed her to report the allegations to the police was Kim Varner, the same attorney who represented Appellant at this trial. Tr. 111, ll. 1-9. It was later confirmed during both a proffer examination and a review of Mr. Varner's files that the witness had indeed consulted with him about the divorce but had not retained him. Tr. 116. This likely created at least some conflict of interest, but Varner did not move to be relieved or for a mistrial. *Cf., e.g.*, Rules 1.7-1.9, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. This testimony was elicited intentionally by the state, as after the solicitor asked the witness who her divorce attorney was, the witness asked, "Are you sure you want me to say that," at which time the solicitor confirmed she was seeking that information. Tr. 111, ll. 1-7. The only reason that this information would have been elicited from the witness is because it is harmful to Appellant, because it strikes at the credibility of defense counsel's arguments. Varner should have moved to be relieved and for a mistrial, but this was not done and is therefore not preserved for this Court's review.

counsel requested that the jury be charged, “If you have a heartfelt conviction nobody is going to force you to change your position, and you don’t have to give up what you believe.” Tr. 434, ll. 6-8. The solicitor stated that this language was “entirely inappropriate.” Tr. 434, l. 10. The trial court responded, “I can’t do that. I can’t do that. I think that’s inappropriate. I can’t tell them that. I can tell them that I know you all have been deliberating—but they’ve only been deliberating since 1:00 p.m.” Tr. 434, ll. 11-14. The trial court went on to instruct the jury as follows:

So, as I told you before, verdicts in South Carolina have to be unanimous, and so at this point in time I’m going to ask you all to continue your deliberations to see if you can reach a unanimous verdict.

Tr. 436, ll. 17-20. The trial court continued to tell the jury that they may take a smoke break if they wished, so long as deliberations stopped during those breaks. Tr. 436-37. The jury was then sent out of the courtroom for this break. Tr. 437, l. 13. Approximately thirty (30) minutes later, the trial court had the jury return to the courtroom and delivered the following instruction:

All right, you all, welcome back into the courtroom. I’m glad you were able to step outside with a bailiff, smoke if you like to smoke. I understand at least four of you definitely needed to have a little bit of a break outside, so I’m glad you were able to do that and contact your significant others to let them know you are still here.

Before I have you go back and continue further deliberations, I do want to instruct you all that any further communications with the court do not include the breakdown in terms of how you all stand with respect to your positions in this case.

Tr. 438, ll. 21-25, 439, ll. 1-6. After the jury exited the courtroom, the trial court remarked that she did not want to give an *Allen* charge yet, because the jury had only been deliberating for three-and-a-half hours. Tr. 439, ll. 12-13. However, based on “looking at their faces,” the trial

court believed an *Allen* charge would be required at a later time. Tr. 440, ll. 1-2. The trial court then again stated, “I don’t consider what I said to be an *Allen* charge; it’s just that you all needed a break and now keep going.” Tr. 440, ll. 18-20.

After approximately three additional hours of deliberations, the jury returned its verdicts. Tr. 440, l. 24, 441. Of note, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all charges related to Minor 1 and acquitted on all charges related to Minor 2. R\*(Verdict Form). Appellant moved for a new trial based on his belief that, *inter alia*, the jury reached a “compromise” verdict. Tr. 443, ll. 5-10. The trial court denied the motion. Tr. 443, ll. 11-15.

### **Discussion**

Despite the trial court’s assertions to the contrary, the instruction given to the jury was an *Allen* charge. By omitting Appellant’s requested language, the trial court’s *Allen* charge was coercive. This Court should reverse.

“A trial judge has the duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict. An *Allen* charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel, but must instead be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other’s views.” *Dawson v. State*, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002); *see also, State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019) (trial judge may “urge jurors to reach a verdict but must do so in a way that does not coerce them, eroding their independence and impartiality”); *Showers v. State*, 407 So.2d 169, 171 (Ala. 1981) (“It is quite clear that...a trial judge may urge a jury to resume deliberations and cultivate a spirit of harmony so as to reach a verdict, as long as the court does not suggest which way the verdict should be returned and no duress or coercion is used.”).

In determining whether an *Allen* charge was coercive, this Court reviews the charge in light of four factors: (1) whether the charge is aimed at the jurors in the voting minority; (2) whether the charge “includes ‘you must return a verdict’ type language;” (3) whether there is “an inquiry into the jury’s numerical division,” which is generally coercive; and (4) whether the amount of time between the charge and the verdict is indicative of coercion. *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 214-15, 829 S.E.2d at 727 (citing *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 492-95, 552 S.E.2d 712, 717-18 (2001) (per curiam)). These *Tucker* factors are non-exclusive, and the case law does not assign any particular weight to any of the four factors. *Id.* at 215, 829 S.E.2d at 727.

The first factor is difficult to analyze “in the abstract.” *Id.* If the trial court has knowledge of the numerical split, and the jury is aware that the trial court has that knowledge, then *Allen* charges that are ostensibly neutral to the majority and minority can become coercive. *See id.* at 216, 829 S.E.2d at 728 (a trial court knowing the numerical split bears on the coercion analysis, “for a jury laboring under such knowledge might interpret the trial court’s comments as aimed at the minority”); *Brewster v. Hetzel*, 913 F.3d 1042, 1054-55 (11th Cir. 2019). In other words, the charge must be considered “in the context and setting it was given,” rather than “in the abstract.” *Id.* When, as here, the trial court did know the numerical split of the jury, the first and third factors should be considered together. *See id.*

The second *Tucker* factor is whether the trial court instructed the jury in language suggesting they “must” reach a verdict. Instructions to the jury that it must render a verdict can be coercive in their own right. *See Jenkins v. United States*, 380 U.S. 445, 446 (1965) (finding an *Allen* charge which instructed the jury “[y]ou have got to reach a decision in this case” was unduly coercive and reversible error). For this reason, the South Carolina Supreme Court has cautioned trial courts against using language such as “with the *hope* that you can arrive at a

verdict,” since jurors are “not required to reach a verdict,” thus, “the language could potentially be construed as being coercive.” *State v. Williams*, 386 S.C. 503, 515 n.7, 690 S.E.2d 62, 68 n.7 (2010). To be sure, there is a “glaring difference between the trial court’s obligation to tell jurors they have a duty to *attempt* to reach a unanimous verdict and telling them they ‘should come to a decision.’” *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 215, 829 S.E.2d at 727 (emphasis in original). The power gradient between the trial judge and jurors is quite steep; jurors, who look to the trial judge for guidance, could interpret even seemingly benign remarks as meaning “the trial judge believes the result is obvious, or at least capable of unanimous agreement.” *Id.* at 216, 829 S.E.2d at 728 (citing *Quercia v. United States*, 289 U.S. 466, 470 (1933)). Even when the trial court ends its *Allen* charge with a phrase such as “I ask you to return to your jury room and *attempt* to come to a verdict,” this fact will not “save” a charge also containing language that could be coercive. *See, e.g., State v. Rampey*, 438 S.C. 519, 526-27, 885 S.E.2d 366, 369-70 (2022) (emphasis added) (holding *Allen* charge that ended in “attempt to come to a verdict” was still coercive because, *inter alia*, the trial court overemphasized “the considerable resources involved” in a trial).

The third *Tucker* factor is whether there is an inquiry into the jury’s numerical division. *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 216, 829 S.E.2d at 728. The trial court must never *ask* the jury about the numerical split, as doing so is itself reversible error. *See Brasfield v. United States*, 272 U.S. 448, 450 (1926) (“We deem it essential to the fair and impartial conduct of the trial that the inquiry itself should be regarded as ground for reversal.... Such a practice, which is never useful and is generally harmful, is not to be sanctioned.”). Even when the trial court did not ask for the split, however, the trial court’s knowledge of the split is relevant to the analysis. *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 217, 829 S.E.2d at 728; *see also, United States v. Brokmond*, 959 F.2d 206, 209-10 (11th Cir. 1992). “Pressure on jurors, especially on holdout jurors, is increased when the instructions to

keep trying to reach unanimity come from a judge who knows how split the jury is and in which direction.... The problem exists whether the judge asked for the information or the jury disclosed it without any prompting. If the jury is aware that the court knows it is divided in favor of convicting the defendant, and the court repeatedly instructs the jury to continue deliberating, the jurors in the minority may feel pressured to join in the majority in order to placate the judge.” *Brewster*, 913 F.3d at 1055 (citing *Brasfield*, 272 U.S. at 450). When a jury reveals its split to the trial court, the trial court must “craft any *Allen* charge mindful of how it may be interpreted given the division. This makes an already subtle task even more delicate.” *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 217, 829 S.E.2d at 728 (citing *United States v. Vanvliet*, 542 F.3d 259, 268 (1st Cir. 2008)).

“The fourth *Tucker* factor in determining whether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive is whether the time between the charge and the verdict demonstrates coercion. This factor is notoriously difficult to apply without indulging in speculation given the secrecy of jury deliberations.” *Id.* In *Taylor*, the Court of Appeals found that a jury going from 10-2, 8-4, and 11-1 splits to unanimous conviction two-and-a-half hours after an *Allen* charge weighed in favor of finding the charge was coercive, holding that amount of time “does not dispel the likelihood of coercion.” *Id.* at 217-18, 829 S.E.2d at 728-29.

The *Tucker* factors are not exclusive. And, as this Court held in *Taylor*, one consideration that is not a *Tucker* factor, but is of great importance, is whether the trial court instructed the jury “they should not surrender their conscientiously held beliefs.” *Id.* at 218, 829 S.E.2d at 729. To that end, the *Taylor* Court held:

The *Tucker* criteria have never been deemed comprehensive. The most troubling thing about the charge here is what it did not say: it did not tell the jurors they should not surrender their conscientiously held beliefs simply for the sake of reaching a verdict, an essential message that sometimes saves borderline charges from crossing the line into coercion. See *Buff v. S.C. Dep't*

*of Transp.*, 342 S.C. 416, 423, 537 S.E.2d 279, 283 (2000) (finding trial court properly instructed a deadlocked jury by “inform[ing] the jury of the desirability of reaching a verdict ... yet remind[ing] the jury no juror should surrender his or her conscientious conviction simply to reach a unanimous verdict”); *Blake by Adams v. Spartanburg Gen. Hosp.*, 307 S.C. 14, 18, 413 S.E.2d 816, 818 (1992) (“[A] trial judge has the duty to ensure that no juror feels compelled to sacrifice his conscientious convictions in order to concur in the verdict.”). Nor did the trial judge's initial charge at the end of the trial remind the jurors not to surrender their conscientious beliefs during deliberations. The original *Allen* charge included such a statement, and courts have routinely held its absence reversible error. *See Note, Due Process, Judicial Economy & the Hung Jury: A Reexamination of the Allen Charge*, 53 Va. L. Rev. 123, 128 (1967) (“Almost without exception the courts have required that the charge contain the statement that ‘no juror should yield his conscientious conviction’ or words to that effect.”).

*Id.* Therefore, the language that “no juror should surrender his honest conviction as to the weight or effect of the evidence solely because of the opinion of his fellow jurors, or for the mere purpose of returning a verdict,” is an essential component of an *Allen* charge. To that end, some courts have held the omission of the same it is reversible error in itself. *See, e.g., United States v. Strothers*, 77 F.3d 1389, 1391 (D.C. Cir. 1996).

Here, when analyzed through the *Tucker* factors, the trial court’s *Allen* charge in this case was unduly coercive.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial judge repeatedly stated that she did not believe the charge she gave was an *Allen* charge. However, there is no reason for this Court to analyze the charge under any other standard. The basic purpose of an *Allen* charge is to encourage the jury to reach a verdict. *See, e.g., State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 108-09 (1996). The trial court’s charge in this case was made for that express purpose. *See, e.g., Tr.* 440, l. 5: “I really want them to continue to try.” In any event, the undersigned is aware of no authority drawing distinctions between charges that are and are not *Allen* charges, especially when the purpose of the charge is to encourage a jury to reach a verdict.

*First*, the trial court's charge could have reasonably understood by the minority jurors as being directed at them. The trial judge in this case was made aware of the jury's numerical split, which must be considered in the coercion analysis. *See Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 216, 829 S.E.2d at 728. In every case where the trial court is aware of the numerical breakdown, and the jury is aware that the trial court has this knowledge, there will be at least a tinge of doubt that the minority jurors feel as though the trial judge is telling them to continue deliberating because their position is wrong; or at least that they must reach a verdict. *Brewster*, 913 F.3d at 1055. More importantly, however, was the trial court's language during its second charge to the jury. The trial court was informed that the jury was split 8-4, with the four jurors voting not guilty. Tr. 436, l. 16; Court's Exhibit 8 (Jury Note (vote)) ("NG-4 G-8"). The fact that four jurors were in the not guilty camp is significant because of the trial court's second instruction. After the jury returned from its smoke break, the trial court instructed them, "I'm glad you were able to step outside with a bailiff, smoke if you like to smoke. I understand that *at least four of you definitely needed to have a little bit of a break outside*, so I'm glad you were able to do that and contact your significant others to let them know you are still here." Tr. 438, ll. 22-25, 439, l. 1 (emphasis added).

Therefore, the facts known to the four jurors in the minority were these: (1) the trial court, fully aware of their numerical split, told them to continue deliberating, since verdicts "must be unanimous<sup>4</sup>;" (2) the trial court told them to take a break; (3) the trial court brought them into the courtroom a second time to express joy that the jury was able to take a break, since

---

<sup>4</sup> This language alone could have been interpreted as coercive by the minority jurors. The trial judge, reading their note, was aware that four of the jurors wanted to vote not guilty but that twice as many, eight, wanted to vote guilty. The trial judge stating first that "verdicts must be unanimous," could reasonably be interpreted as telling the eight members in the majority that they were on track to reach the "correct" verdict but that they needed to keep going since the trial court could not accept a non-unanimous verdict.

“four of you” definitely needed one. To one of the four jurors in the minority, who look to the trial judge for direction, *see Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 216, 829 S.E.2d at 728, the trial court’s actions could easily be interpreted as endorsement of the majority’s viewpoints, or at least subtle pressure to reach a verdict, even at the expense of their beliefs. *See infra*. Accordingly, the first *Tucker* factor weighs in favor of reversal.

*Second*, the trial court did not effectively walk the fine line between permissible language, and “you must return a verdict” type language. The trial court told the jury “verdicts in South Carolina *have to be* unanimous, and so at this point in time I’m going to ask you all to continue your deliberations to see if you can reach a unanimous verdict.” Tr. 436, ll. 17-20 (emphasis added). It is true that the end of this instruction says, “*to see if* you can reach a unanimous verdict.” However, this fact alone will not save an otherwise improper charge. *See Rampey*, 438 S.C. at 526-27, 885 S.E.2d at 369-70. The first part of the instruction is “verdicts...*have to be* unanimous.” Significantly, this instruction came in response to the jury’s specific statement “There is not a unanimous vote.” This language, when stated in direct response to the jury’s question, would read as if the trial court was telling them something that they already know, which it was. This doubling-down on the unanimity requirement, which it already instructed the jury on at length, and which the jury was obviously aware, could give the impression that the trial court was telling the jury that they must return a *verdict*, not just that they must return a *unanimous* verdict. Accordingly, the second factor weighs in favor of reversal.

*Third*, the trial court was aware of the jury’s numerical split. The analysis for this factor is closely related to the analysis for the first factor, discussed *supra*. Although the trial court did not instruct the jury to reveal its numerical breakdown, the fact that it volunteered the breakdown still makes it substantially more likely that the trial court’s charge was coercive. As has been

noted by several courts, including this Court, the jury revealing its split to the trial court makes its task in crafting a proper *Allen* charge substantially more difficult. *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 217, 829 S.E.2d at 728 (when the trial court knows the vote breakdown, it must “craft any *Allen* charge mindful of how it may be interpreted given the division. This makes an already subtle task even more delicate.” (citing *Vanvliet*, 542 F.3d at 268). Any time the trial court knows the jury’s split, “the jurors in the minority may feel pressured to join in the majority in order to placate the judge.” *Brewster*, 913 F.3d at 1055. This, combined with the unfortunate language of the trial court’s second charge, create a significant probability that the four jurors who wished to vote not guilty were improperly coerced by the trial court’s *Allen* charge. Accordingly, the third *Tucker* factor weighs in favor of reversal.

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