RECEIVED

May 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001064

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

PHILIP SCOTT STEELE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **In answering the jury's question about what would happen if the jury was unable to reach unanimity, the trial court properly did not give an *Allen* charge but rather reminded the jury that any verdict needed to be unanimous and asked the jury to continue deliberating.**

By answering the jury's question—"If there is not an unanimous vote, what is the plan?"—with the simple response of "verdicts in South Carolina have to be unanimous" before asking the jury to continue deliberations, the trial court's instruction did not constitute an *Allen* charge. The trial court's answer was a proper use of its discretion. Therefore, this Court should affirm.

A. *Allen* charge, generally.

Trial courts have long struggled with what to tell a deadlocked jury because a criminal defendant's right to due process can be violated by a charge that coerces a jury to reach a verdict. *State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 213, 829 S.E.2d 723, 726 (Ct. App. 2019). However, the Supreme Court of the United States and courts in this State have upheld and approved supplemental instructions for a **deadlocked** jury that urge them to continue deliberating, reconsider their opinions, and reach a unanimous decision. *See generally id.* at 213-15, 829 S.E.2d at 726-27; *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492, 501 (1896). This Court has held that an *Allen* charge must be "neutral and even-handed, instruct both the majority and the minority to reconsider their views, and cannot be directed at the jurors in the minority." *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 214, 829 S.E.2d at 727. "A trial judge has a duty to urge jurors to reach a verdict, but must do so in a way that does not coerce them, eroding their independence and impartiality." *Id.*

Our courts have not set a definition for coercion, rather preferring to "view the charge in context" and considering four non-exclusive factors. *Id.* The first factor concerns whether the charge spoke "specifically to minority jurors." *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 492-95, 552 S.E.2d 712, 717-18 (2001). The second factor concerns whether the charge included "you must return a

verdict" or similar language. *Id.* The third factor asks if the trial court inquired into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive. *Id.* And the fourth factor concerns the time between when the charge was given and when the jury returned a verdict. *Id.*

In *Tucker v. Catoe*, the jury deliberated into the night and resumed deliberations the following day. 346 S.C. at 489, 552 S.E.2d at 715. That afternoon, the jury sent a note to the trial court stating that the jury was unable to reach a verdict at that time and asking for a recharge on jurors' responsibilities. *Id.* at 491, 552 S.E.2d at 716. The trial court then provided an *Allen* charge, which our supreme court determined was unconstitutionally coercive under the totality of the circumstances, in part due to the charge impermissibly singling out the lone juror in the minority. *Id.* at 493, 552 S.E.2d at 717. Our supreme court was also critical of the trial court's treatment of jury notes. *Id.* at 495, 552 S.E.2d at 718. The trial court did not reveal the divided nature of the jury from either note nor did the trial court tell the parties that the second note contained the phrase "hopelessly deadlocked" and an indication that the jury was not likely to ever reach a unanimous decision. *Id.* Our supreme court granted the defendant a new sentencing proceeding,⁴ specifying that it relied on "a combination of withholding pertinent information from the parties, thereby depriving them of the facts necessary to make informed decisions; failing to instruct the jury to omit from its future communication any reference to the nature of its division; and giving an unconstitutionally coercive *Allen* charge, with its emphasis on a collective result." *Id.*

In *State v. Cottrell*, our supreme court addressed an issue more similar to the issue in this case. 421 S.C. 622, 809 S.E.2d 423 (2017). There, the defendant argued that the trial court's failure to inform the parties of the contents of a jury note indicating the numerical division during

⁴ *Tucker* dealt with a death penalty case; therefore, a new sentencing hearing was the available relief. 346 S.C. at 489, 552, S.E.2d at 715.

sentencing deliberations violated his right to assistance of counsel, a fair jury trial, and a non-arbitrary verdict. *Id.* at 644, 809 S.E.2d at 435. Our supreme court noted that, unlike in *Tucker*, the jury note did not state the jury was "hopelessly deadlocked" but instead indicated the jurors' vote and inquired as to the next step. *Id.* at 645, 809 S.E.2d at 436. Our supreme court noted that the trial court acted within its discretion in determining that the jury had not yet reached a deadlock due to the relatively short amount of time—two hours—that it had deliberated at that point. *Id.* Without a deadlock, the trial court determined it was not appropriate to give an *Allen* charge and instead "simply told the jury to continue with its deliberations." *Id.* Our supreme court also noted that the trial court followed the instructions from *Tucker* and advised the jury not to notify the court of any further specific vote counts in future notes. *Id.*

While *Cottrell* specifically addresses whether the defendant was deprived of an opportunity to be adequately heard before the trial court responded to the jury's inquiry, our supreme court also differentiated the facts of *Cottrell* from those in *Tucker*. Specifically, our supreme court noted that unlike in *Tucker*, where the jury sent multiple notes to the trial court over a two day period stating that the jury was "hopelessly deadlocked," the trial court in *Cottrell* acted within its discretion in determining that the jury's note was not an indication of deadlock, especially given that the jury had only been deliberating for two hours at that point. *Id.* Our supreme court stated that the jury note "did not state that it was hopelessly deadlocked. The note simply indicated what the jurors' vote was and inquired as to the next step." *Id.* Without a deadlock, an *Allen* charge would have been inappropriate. *Id.*

B. The trial court's response to the jury note was not an *Allen* charge, which was appropriate.

Here, the facts are significantly closer to *Cottrell* than to *Tucker*. As in *Cottrell*, the trial court received a note with a numerical split and a question of what the next step was *if* the jury

was unable to reach a unanimous decision. (R. 456). The trial court received this note approximately three hours into the jury's deliberations. (R. 432). The trial court here came to the same conclusion as the trial court in *Cottrell*, namely that the elapse of a mere few hours was not long enough to warrant an *Allen* charge. (R. 435-436). *Cottrell*, 421 S.C. at 645, 809 S.E.2d at 436.

To the extent Appellant asserts the trial court erred by declining to add his requested language to the court's answer to the jury's note (which would have made the trial court's response a quasi-*Allen* charge), this argument is without merit. The trial court was well within its discretion to determine that the jury was not *yet* deadlocked based on the language of the note. *See Cottrell*, 421 S.C. at 645, 809 S.E.2d at 436 (stating a trial court was within its discretion in finding a jury had not indicated it was deadlocked by indicating the jury split and asking what was next). Moreover, when a jury asks for an additional charge, a trial court only needs to recharge what is necessary to answer the jury's question, nothing more. *See State v. Perry*, 440 S.C. 396, 406, 892 S.E.2d 273, 278 (2023) ("It is well established in South Carolina that when the jury asks for an additional charge, it is enough for the court to recharge only what is necessary to answer the jury's requests."); *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 118-19, 481 S.E.2d 118, 112 (1997) (holding that when the jury asked the trial court to clarify certain charges, the trial court did not err in declining the defendant's request to also recharge the jury on charges for which the jury did not specifically ask for clarification).

Here, the jury asked what would happen if they could not come to a unanimous decision. (R. 456). The trial court responded simply that verdicts must be unanimous and asked the jury to continue deliberating. (R. 438). The jury did not ask about the additional charges that Appellant wanted the trial court to include. Therefore, the trial court properly determined that an *Allen*

charge, including Appellant's requested modified *Allen* charge, would have been premature and appropriately decided not to give one, which is a decision both parties agreed with. (R. 435-437).

C. Any argument concerning the trial court's post-smoke break comments is not preserved for appellate review.

To the extent that Appellant asserts the trial court's comment after the jury's smoke break that it "understand[s] at least four of you definitely needed to have a little break outside" was improperly coercive, this argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not object or otherwise bring this issue to the trial court's attention. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal."). Moreover, because the record is entirely lacking of information concerning the number of smokers on the jury and the number of jurors who went outside during the smoke break, any assertion as to who the trial judge was referring to is nothing more than pure speculation.

D. As to Appellant's "compromise verdict" argument.

To the extent that Appellant asserts that the jury finding him guilty of all charges related to Minor 1 but not guilty of all charges related to Minor 2 somehow indicates that the trial court's comments coerced the jury, this argument is also without merit. *See generally United States v. Cornell*, 780 F.3d 616, 627 (4th Cir. 2015) (holding that the defendants' claims of coercion following an *Allen* charge was negated where the jury deliberated for over three hours after the charge and where the jury returned a split verdict, reflecting thoughtful and deliberate action by the jury and not action arising under an impulse of coercion); *United States v. Heath*, 970 F.2d 1397, 1406 (5th Cir.1992) (finding no coercion because the jury's split verdict was "a discriminating one"); *United States v. West*, 877 F.2d 281, 288 (4th Cir. 1989) (when the verdict is

split, "[i]t can be inferred that the jury carefully considered the evidence against each defendant and based its verdict solely upon that evidence"); *United States v. Fermin*, 32 F.3d 674, 680 (2d Cir. 1994) (holding that mixed verdicts "strongly indicate[d]" that the jury paid individual attention to each defendant and to each count and that the jury did not surrender their opinions merely to reach a result); *United States v. Black*, 843 F.2d 1456, 1463-64 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (noting mixed verdicts can indicate a lack of coercion).

Additionally, Appellant's split verdict merely indicates that the jury found Minor 1's more extensive and detailed testimony to be credible beyond a reasonable doubt while simultaneously finding the opposite about Minor 2's less detailed testimony. Moreover, because the jury's note to the trial court did not indicate which of the five charges the jury was split on, the record is devoid of evidence that the charges for which the jury found Appellant guilty were the charges that prompted the jury's note.

[conclusion and signature block on following page]


CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State requests that this Court affirm Appellant's convictions for one count of first-degree CSC with a minor and two counts of third-degree CSC with a minor, as well as his associated sentences.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General

CINDY S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit